#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD ABDIEL SILVA

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 22 2021 01:58 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

#### **CASE NO. 81627**

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction After Jury Verdict in Case CR18-1135(B)

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County Honorable David A. Hardy, District Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

VICTORIA T. OLDENBURG, ESQ. OLDENBURG LAW OFFICE P.O. Box 17422 Reno, NV 89511 Tel. (775) 971-4245

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

JENNIFER P. NOBLE, ESQ. CHIEF APPELLATE DEPUTY P.O. Box 11130 Reno, NV 89502 Tel. (775) 337-5750

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction pursuant to a jury verdict. 8 Appellant's Appendix (AA) 1790. A Notice of Appeal was filed on August 11, 2020. 8 AA 1792. This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2) as it is a direct appeal of a jury verdict that involves the conviction of a category A felony.

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- A. The District Court violated the Appellant's Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to a fair trial and due process of law by permitting statements made by him in violation of his *Miranda* rights to be admitted at trial.
- B. The District Court violated the Appellant's Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to a fair trial and due process of law by denying his right to an impartial jury.

# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State field a one count information against Appellant and codefendant Yiovannie Guzman with Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon. Appellant's Appendix (AA) Vol. 1, 0007. The State charged Appellant with the murder of Luz Linarez-Castillo by shooting her with a 9mm handgun at or near Neil Road, Reno,

Nevada, on the morning of November 2, 2017. 1 AA 007. The State charged Appellant and his co-defendant with aiding or abetting each other and/or acting as conspirators with each other in committing the murder. *Id*.

After a five-day jury trial, Appellant was found guilty of First-Degree Murder with the use of a Deadly Weapon. 2 AA 0308. The jury returned a penalty verdict of life with the possibility of parole after a minimum of 20 years had been served. 8 AA 1755. The district court sentenced Appellant to a consecutive term of 60 to 240 months on the Deadly Weapon Enhancement, and the Judgment of Conviction was entered on August 7, 2020. 8 AA 1790. On August 11, 2020, Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. 8 AA 1792.

# **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. Pre-Trial Motions

Appellant filed a pre-trial motion to Suppress statements made to Reno Police Department Detectives during interrogation interviews without being advised of his *Miranda* rights (1 AA 014) which was opposed by the State. (1 AA 0037). Appellant filed a Reply (1 AA 046), and thereafter oral arguments were held on the Motion to Suppress. 1 AA 0053). The district court granted the motion, suppressing all statements made during Appellant's interrogation. 2 AA 0195.

Thereafter the State filed a Motion in Limine seeking the admission of translated statements that Appellant made to his brother, Bernard Silva Guzman

(hereafter referred to as "Bernard Silva") in the interrogation room immediately following Appellant's interrogation and arrest by the police, 2 AA 0208, and a Supplement to the Motion in Limine, 2 A 0214, which was opposed by Appellant. 2 JA 0226. The State filed a Reply. 2 AA 0238. After oral argument the district court issued its order authorizing the admission of Appellant's confession to his brother immediately following his interrogation. 2 AA 0303, 0306-0307.

#### B. Trial

At approximately 4:50 a.m. on the morning of November 2, 2017, Reno Police Department (RPD) officers were dispatched to the area of Mazzone Avenue and Parkview Street, Reno, Nevada on reports of multiple shots fired. 4 AA 0632-0633. Responding officers located a red Dodge Charger sedan with its lights on and engine running stopped nose-in against the building of 1192 Parkview Street. The victim, Luz Linarez-Castillo ("Ms. Castillo"), was found unresponsive inside the vehicle with multiple gunshot wounds to her face, back and shoulder. 4 AA 633-640. Six shell casings were located near the scene. 4 AA 0641-648. RPD also located four,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Medical Examiner testified that the victim was shot six times; the official cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds and the manner of death homicide. 4 AA 0630:23-24, 0631:1-9.

and what appeared to be fresh, cigarette butts (Marlboro "NXT," )<sup>2</sup> near the area where it was believed a potential suspect had been standing. 4 AA 0651, 0659-662.

# 1. Neighbor Testimonies

On November 2, 2017, Mr. Vincent Vasquez lived in the area of Parkview Street and Mazzone Avenue. 3 AA 0575-0576. As Mr. Vasquez was leaving for work sometime prior to 5:00 a.m. he saw a man standing near the scene wearing all black, including a black hoodie. 3 AA 0577-0578. When the man saw Mr. Vasquez he started walking away towards a white SUV near the scene pointing the wrong way towards Neil Road. 3 AA 0579-0580. Mr. Vasquez proceeded to get in his car and head down Parkview Street, to Neil Road, to Moana and then the freeway. 3 AA 0580. As soon as Mr. Vasquez got on the freeway he received a phone call from his wife. 3 AA 0582. Kimberly Vasquez testified that as she was walking her husband out that morning she saw what looked like an SUV, which appeared to be on, pointing the wrong way towards Neil Road and saw an individual, dressed in dark colors and wearing a dark hoodie, walking near the SUV. 3 AA 0586-0595. Ms. Vasquez went back to their apartment, watched her husband leave from the balcony, went back to bed, and then heard what sounded like gunshots. *Id.* She ran to the balcony, saw the SUV was gone, and called 911 and her husband. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Marlboro NXT cigarette is a regular to menthol cigarette which has a green circle on the butt of the cigarette.

Mr. Juan Gonzalez lived on Neil Road adjacent to the scene. 4 AA 0597. The morning of November 2, 2017, prior to 5:00 a.m. he had gone outside to warm up his car, which was parked on Parkview Street, and while in the car heard gunshots. 4 AA 0598. He left his car running and went back inside to avoid being shot. 4 AA 0598-0599. Approximately ten minutes later he went back to his truck to leave for work and was driving towards Moana Lane behind a gray Toyota SUV, which he testified was the only vehicle around at that time. 4 AA 0599-0600. When Mr. Gonzalez came home later that day he observed police activity and printed off from the Internet a picture of a vehicle, a Toyota Sequoia, that looked very similar to the vehicle that he saw that morning and which he provided to the police. 4 AA 0601-0602.

# 2. RPD Detective Testimony

RPD Detective Michael Barnes assisted in processing the scene of the crime. 4 AA 0759, 0761. Detective Rhodes investigated the source of four NXT cigarettes butts found near the scene and obtained documents from a loss prevention associate from 7-eleven who researched transactions of NXT cigarette sales in Reno and Sparks from 3:00 p.m. on November 1<sup>st</sup> through 6:00 a.m. on November 2 for all local 7-eleven stores and received surveillance stills of a transaction of two packs of NXT cigarettes being sold at a 7-Eleven at Greenbrae in Sparks on November 1<sup>st</sup>, 2017 at 10:48 p.m. 4 AA 0762-0766. The still images depicted Appellant wearing

a San Francisco 49'ers hat and clothing similar to that described by witnesses and located at his and his brother's residence, including a hoody, and which also showed Appellant as the passenger in a silver SUV. 4 AA 0819-0822.

RPD Detective Ben Rhodes was in charge of the crime scene. 4 AA 0698-0701. Detective Rhodes searched the residence of Appellant and his older brother Bernard Silva and located clothes consistent with clothes they were looking for from the 7-Eleven surveillance video obtained from the night of November 1, 2017 (a dark colored sweatshirt/hoody), and also located a 9-millimeter firearm, Taurus brand, a marriage certificate between Ms. Castillo and Bernard Silva, and ammunition which was the same brand as that found at the crime scene, Sphere, but a different caliber. 4 AA 0721-0726; the 9-millimeter firearm and ammunition was located in Bernard Silva's room, as well as an empty gun holster and a .40-caliber handgun. 4 AA 0746. Detective Rhodes searched a blue Lexus sedan registered to Appellant and found a cigarette butt in the trunk with a green circle consistent with that found on the four Marlboro NXT butts from the scene. 4 AA 0727-0730. When Appellant was arrested RPD Detectives took clothing from him including a black hoodie and a 49er's cap but never tested the items for GSR. 5 AA 0873, 6 AA 1272-1273.

Detective Rhodes located a gray Toyota Sequoia registered to Sylvia and Arturo Guzman, the parents of co-defendant Yiovannie Guzman, cousin to Bernard and Richard Silva. 4 AA 0730-0741.

During his investigation Detective Rhodes learned that Ms. Castillo was having an affair, that there was a "big fight" between Ms. Castillo and Bernard Silva, that he had shot himself in the chest, that he had been released from the hospital days before Ms. Castillo was shot, and that Ms. Castillo had obtained a Temporary Protection Order against Bernard Silva while he was in the hospital. 4 AA 0741-0742. In addition, he learned that the ex-girlfriend of the man with whom Ms. Castillo was having a romantic affair, Arturo Manzo, did not care for Ms. Castillo and Mr. Manzo and his ex-girlfriend were having significant issues. 4 AA 0750-0751.

Detective Kazmar and Detective Thomas initially interviewed Appellant on November 8, 2017. 5 AA 0854-0855. At that time the Detectives collected a water bottle from Appellant to have it tested for DNA. 5 AA 0856, 0865. During the interview Appellant informed Detectives he was never in the area of Mazzone Avenue and Parkview Street. 6 A 1235-1236.

Appellant was again interviewed on November 16, 2017. Detective Thomas testified that at some point after the arrest of Appellant on November 16, 2017, Appellant asked to speak with his brother, Bernard Silva. 6 AA 1247. During the

testimony of Detective Thomas evidence was presented regarding a recorded conversation on November 16, 2017 between Appellant and Bernard Silva in the interrogation room (immediately after Appellant's arrest) including statements by the Appellant that he and Ms. Castillo were having an affair, that is why he did it, and that he did not mean to kill her, he wanted to kill the dude. 6 AA 1256-1257, 6 AA 1289-1290 (testimony of translator). Appellant also made a statement to his mother during a jail call that they were trying to find the pistol and they aren't going to find it – he already got rid of it. 6 AA 1291-1293.

Detective Thomas also testified regarding his interview with Bernard Silva on November 2, 2017. 6 AA 1258. Detective Thomas found it "off" that Bernard Silva did not asked what had happened to Ms. Castillo until about 50 minutes into the interview. 6 AA 1261. From the interview Detective Thomas learned that there was a contentious relationship between Bernard Silva and Ms. Castillo, that there were allegations of physical violence and of Bernard stalking Ms. Castillo, and about the physical altercation between the two on October 20, 2017 wherein Bernard Silva shot himself in the chest; Bernard Silva learned of the affair with Mr. Manzo when he was in the hospital recovering from his wound. 6 AA 1260-1263. Detective Thomas also learned that Bernard Silva had sent Ms. Castillo 325 text messages from October 24 to November 1, 2017, and also made a significant amount of telephone calls to Ms. Castillo during that time period. 6 AA 1267-1268. Detective

Thomas also testified that during the interview Bernard Silva was wearing a black outfit including a black hoodie; however, Bernard Silva's clothes were not collected for testing. 6 AA 1268-1270.

## 3. Testimony of Arturo Manzo

Ms. Castillo was staying with Mr. Manzo the night of November 1, 2017. 5 AA 0875-0877 On the morning of November 2, 2017 Mr. Manzo walked Ms. Castillo to her car, returned to his apartment, heard gunshots and attempted to call Ms. Castillo. 5 AA 0878. Mr. Manzo knew of Bernard Silva and was informed Bernard Silva had struck Ms. Castillo on October 20, 2017. 5 AA 0883. Around that time Mr. Manzo had a telephone conversation with Bernard Silva and informed him that he and Ms. Castillo were dating; Mr. Manzo was subsequently contacted by Appellant who asked if he was dating Ms. Castillo and Mr. Manzo confirmed his relationship with Ms. Castillo, that conversation was the same day Bernard Silva had shot himself. 5 AA 0885-0891. Mr. Manzo also testified regarding his ex-girlfriend and the fact she had problems because he was with Ms. Castillo and that there was a physical fight between his ex-girlfriend and Ms. Castillo a few weeks before Ms. Castillo was killed. 5 AA 0896. Mr. Manzo testified that when he learned Ms. Castillo had been killed and police asked if he had any idea who could have done it his first response was it could have been his ex-girlfriend. *Id*.

///

#### 4. Forensic Witnesses

Ms. Ashlyn Burke, forensic investigator with the Washoe County Crime Law at the time of the homicide, processed the crime scene, including the NXT cigarette butts, a Camel cigarette butt, six Sphere 9-millimeter Luger casings found at the scene, and bullets/fragments collected from the victim. 4 AA 0672-685. Kendra Baum, criminalist with the Washoe County Sheriff's Office Forensic Science Division also testified. 6 AA 1189. Ms. Baum examined three of the Marlboro NXT cigarettes butts from the scene and the water bottle obtained by police from Appellant on November 8, 2017<sup>3</sup>, using reference samples from Bernard Silva, Arturo Manzo, and Appellant. 6 AA 1202, 1203. The DNA profiles on the three cigarette butts and the water bottles were the same. 6 AA 1207. Ms. Baum matched two of the cigarette butts to Appellant with an estimated frequency of the matching DNA profile as 1 in 8.217 octillion individuals. Ms. Baum also analyzed two cigarette butts found in the area which matched to an unknown female DNA profile. 6 AA 1210. Ms. Baum was never asked to compare the unknow female DNA to Mr. Manzo's ex-girlfriend. 6 AA 1216. Ms. Baum was never asked to do DNA testing on the casings or bullets found at the scene. 4 6 AA 1214-1215.

<sup>3</sup> Ms. Baum concluded Appellant was the source of the DNA profile obtained from water bottle swabs. 6 AA 1211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The bullet fragments and casings were never matched to a weapon.

## 5. Testimony of Co-Defendant Yiovannie Guzman

Mr. Guzman was initially charged with Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon. Mr. Guzman made a deal with the State in exchange for his testimony and plead to Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Battery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon. 5 AA 0989. Mr. Guzman was aware, at the time of his testimony, that his final deal with the State, made one week prior to trial, could entitle him to probation and he could walk away a free man. 6 AA 1146-1147.

Mr. Guzman is Appellant's first cousin on his father's side. 5 AA 0997. Mr. Guzman stated that on Halloween night, October 31, 2017, he was smoking marijuana and snorting cocaine. 5 AA 1004. That evening he drove his vehicle, a gray Toyota Sequoia, to Paul's Market. 5 AA 1006-1006. While at Paul's Market he observed Appellant pulling in to the market with some friends. 5 AA 1008. He and Appellant had a conversation. Mr. Guzman testified that Appellant asked to borrow Mr. Guzman's car that night as he had "a mission to do and had to body somebody." 5 AA 1010-1011. Mr. Guzman agreed to let Appellant borrow his car that night and Appellant told him he would call him later in the evening. *Id.* Mr. Guzman testified he called Appellant later that evening and Appellant was at a friend's house on 4th and Greenbrae. 5 AA 1012. Mr. Guzman went to the house to let Appellant borrow his car. 5 AA 1013-1014. Mr. Guzman testified that he had a conversation at the home with Appellant and Appellant informed him he was going

to kill that Ms. Castillo that night and asked Mr. Guzman if he could be the driver. 5 AA 1014-1015. Mr. Guzman testified that Appellant was going to kill Ms. Castillo because she was threatening to take the kids away from his brother, Bernard Silva, and that Ms. Castillo had evidence to put Bernard away in prison for a long time. 5 AA 1015. Mr. Guzman testified that he agreed to drive Appellant, and the plan was they were going to go to the residence where she might be and kill her. 5 AA 1016-1017. Mr. Guzman said that Appellant stated he planned on doing it the same night, just later (early morning), and that Appellant knew what time she worked so at around that time they would go searching for her. 5 AA 1021. Mr. Guzman stated that the same evening he and Appellant went to a 7-11 on Greenbrae, in Mr. Guzman's vehicle with Mr. Guzman driving, so that Appellant could purchase cigarettes; Mr. Guzman stated that Appellant smoked Marlboro cigarettes in a black box with green lettering. 5 AA 1023. Mr. Guzman testified that he went home that evening, sometime past midnight, to sleep for a couple of hours and then drive to Appellant's home and go looking for Ms. Castillo but that did not occur because he slept through his alarm. 5 AA 1024-1026. Mr. Guzman stated he recalled Appellant sending text messages that morning asking where he was, stating it was "too late," and arranging for Mr. Guzman to sleep over at Appellant's home that evening. 5 AA

1026-1029.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Guzman stated he went to Appellant's home that evening. 5 AA 1029-1030. That evening he and Appellant drove to Ms. Castillo's residence but her red Charger was not there, so they drove to Mr. Manzo's residence and observed her red Charger; Mr. Guzman stated Appellant knew of Mr. Manzo's residence from a co-worker at the DMV.<sup>6</sup> 5 AA 1031-1034. Mr. Guzman testified that he and Appellant went back to Appellant's home and went to sleep. 5 AA 1034. Mr. Guzman stated that Bernard Silva was also in the home and knew about the plan to kill Ms. Castillo. 5 AA 1035-1037. Subsequently, on November 16, 2017, Mr. Guzman confessed to the police that he was the one who drove his gray Toyota Sequoia on November 2, 2017 and participated in the murder of Ms. Castillo. 5 AA 1060.

Mr. Guzman testified that the next morning he and Appellant got up and drove to the area of Parkview Street and Mazzone Avenue, parking his car on the north side of the street facing east towards Neil Road, where he was able to visually see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RPD Detective Josh Watson, Computer Crimes Unit (5 AA 0919), testified as to text messages between Appellant and co-defendant on November 1, 2017 at 4:28 a.m. where Appellant reached out to Mr. Guzman asking where he was, Mr. Guzman replying he had overslept, Appellant stating it was "too late" and arrangements being made to have Mr. Guzman stay with Appellant that evening. 5 AA 0936-0939.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Louise Roberts, former head of vehicle registration programming, testified that Appellant, an employee at DMV, had another employee run a license plate on October 36, 2017 on Arturo Manzo which provided information including residences and addresses. 5 AA 0903-0914.

Ms. Castillo's car. 5 AA 1039-1045. Mr. Guzman testified that he and Appellant waited in the vehicle, anywhere from 30 minutes to an hour, until Ms. Castillo came around the corner at the stop sign, and that Appellant exited the vehicle once during that time and recalled seeing him on the northeast corner of Mazzone Avenue and Parkview Street. 5 AA 1045-1047. Mr. Guzman stated he saw Appellant smoking in the area where the shooting occurred and also next to his vehicle. 5 AA 1055. Mr. Guzman testified that Appellant told Mr. Guzman Ms. Castillo was coming and Appellant waited near the corner of Mazzone Avenue. 5 AA 1047-1048. Mr. Guzman could see Appellant in his left rear-view mirror, saw Ms. Castillo arrive at the stop sign, and saw Appellant on her driver's side window firing the first shot, looked away, and heard another five shots fired. 5 AA 1049. Mr. Guzman stated that after the shots were fired he looked in his middle rear view and saw Appellant coming and the red car continue towards the curb. 5 AA 1051. Mr. Guzman stated that Appellant then entered the vehicle and they exited the area. 5 AA 1052. Mr. Guzman testified that he never saw a firearm. 6 AA 1132, 1169.

On cross Mr. Guzman testified as to his knowledge of the volatile relationship between Bernard Silva and Ms. Castillo, that Ms. Castillo was hurting Bernard physically and emotionally, that Bernard was angry, that Ms. Castillo was cheating on Bernard Silva, and that Bernard Silva shot himself after getting into an argument

with Ms. Castillo. 6 AA 1150-1151. Mr. Guzman stated that Ms. Castillo was breaking up the family. 6 AA 1151.

#### 6. Juror No. 1

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