IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD ABDIEL SILVA,

No. 81627

Electronically Filed Oct 22 2021 04:45 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS Washoe County District Attorney

VICTORIA T. OLDENBURG, ESQ. OLDENBURG LAW OFFICE P.O. Box 17422 Reno, Nevada 89511

KEVIN NAUGHTON Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State largely agrees with the Statement of Facts as set forth in the Opening Brief. Additional and specific factual citations are included

throughout this brief as necessary, particularly in section B of the argument pointing out the overwhelming evidence against Silva.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Did the district court err by allowing the State to present Silva's statement to his brother acknowledging that he killed the victim that was recorded after a police interrogation that was suppressed?
- B. Even if Silva's statements to his brother were impermissibly presented to the jury, was the error harmless in light of the other overwhelming evidence against him?
- C. Did the district court violate Silva's right to an impartial jury?

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- A. The district court properly allowed the State to present Silva's statements to his brother because they were made voluntarily, at his own request, and not the result of interrogation by the police.
 - i. Standard of Review

"[A] trial court's custody and voluntariness determinations present mixed questions of law and fact subject to this court's de novo review."

Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 190, 111 P.3d 690, 694 (2005) (citations omitted).

ii. Discussion

Silva claims that his recorded statements made to his brother,

Bernard Silva, immediately after he confessed to detectives should not have
been presented to the jury. The district court granted a motion to suppress
Silva's confession to detectives because it found that the detectives had not
scrupulously honored Silva's right to remain silent. 2AA 206-207.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that "the goals of the Miranda safeguards could be effectuated if those extended not only to express questions, but also to 'its functional equivalent." Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520, 526, 107 S. Ct. 1931, 1935 (1987) quoting Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301 100 S. Ct. 1682, 1689 (1980). The Supreme Court has also "explained the phrase 'functional equivalent' of interrogation as including 'any words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect." *Id* quoting Innis.

In <u>Mauro</u>, the court found that the defendant had not been subjected to interrogation when, after invoking his right to counsel, police allowed his wife into the room to talk to him. The <u>Mauro</u> court wrote that "[w]e doubt that a suspect, told by officers that his wife will be allowed to speak to him, would feel that he was being coerced to incriminate himself in any way." 481 U.S. at 528, 107 S. Ct. at 1936. Additionally, the <u>Mauro</u> court reemphasized what it had held since <u>Miranda</u>: "Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment and their admissibility is not affected by our holding today." <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 478, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 1630 (1966) *cited by* <u>Mauro</u>, 481 U.S. at 529, 107 S. Ct. at

1936 and Innis, 446 U.S. at 299-300, 100 S. Ct. at 1689. The Mauro court ultimately held that the police had not violated Mauro's rights by allowing his wife to speak to him in a monitored environment. 481 U.S. at 529-30, 107 S. Ct. at 1937. "Officers do not interrogate a suspect simply by hoping that he will incriminate himself." Mauro, 481 U.S. at 529, 107 S. Ct. at 1936.

Here, Silva asked detectives if he could speak to his brother, Bernard, because "I want to be the first to tell my brother what I really did." 2AA 227.¹ The district court acknowledged that the detectives "didn't initiate the contact. They didn't suggest the contact. They responded to [Silva's] request." 2AA 278. Detectives were initially hesitant about the idea due to the relationship between all the parties - they weren't sure whether Bernard would try to hurt Silva for having killed his wife. 2AA 285-286, 6AA 1247. This was not a situation in which the detectives sought to get Silva's confession by use of a third-party conducting the functional equivalent of a custodial interrogation.

_

¹ The transcript of the conversation appears to be missing from the Appellant's Appendix. 2AA 219-20. The Respondent does not believe this was done intentionally, but instead is an artifact resulting from the way that exhibits are included as separate documents when filing pleadings before the district court. In the interest of completeness, it has been included in a Respondent's Appendix. Respondent's Appendix, pp. 8-9.

In fact, the detectives would have had no reason to believe they might need to elicit a confession through Bernard because they had just finished hearing it directly from Silva. Although that confession was later suppressed, at the time Bernard entered the room to talk to Silva, detectives had just heard what they believed to be an admissible confession and thus would have had no reason to send Bernard in with the purpose of extracting a confession from Silva. Moreover, although asking questions is not the only way in which law enforcement can conduct an interrogation, there is no evidence to suggest that they did anything other than facilitate Silva's request to confess to his brother, *i.e.*, detectives did not tell Bernard to ask questions or suggest to Silva that he should come clean to his brother.

Silva's suggestion that his conversation with Bernard should have been suppressed as the fruit of the poisonous tree is a misapplication of Fourth Amendment jurisprudence to a Fifth Amendment issue. Silva argues that since police failed to scrupulously honor his request to remain silent, anything that flowed from his confession, including Bernard's "functional equivalent of continued police interrogation" must be suppressed. Opening Brief, p. 19.

However, as discussed above, Silva's statement to Bernard was entirely voluntary and not in response to any functional equivalent of

police-led interrogation. This was not some clever ploy by the detectives to coerce Silva into incriminating himself. Instead, this was the detectives reluctantly giving Silva the opportunity to tell his brother directly that he was responsible for killing his wife.

The Nevada Supreme Court has previously dealt with this issue. In Rhodes v. State, the court succinctly phrased the issue as: "May the fruits of confessions given in violation of the procedural safeguards of Miranda be received in evidence if the confessions otherwise are shown to have been freely and voluntarily given?" 91 Nev. 17, 22, 530 P.2d 1199, 1202 (1975). Answering its own question, the Rhodes court agreed with the United States Supreme Court and held that testimony "need not be excluded where there has been no direct infringement upon the suspect's privilege against compulsory self incrimination, but only a violation of the prophylactic rules which Miranda developed to protect that right." *Id citing* Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 94 S. Ct. 2357 (1974).

Here, Silva's confession was suppressed because of detectives violating Miranda's safeguards, not for extracting an involuntary confession. As a result, the fruits of that confession, including Silva's subsequent voluntary statements to his brother, were admissible. As the district court pointed out, "[t]here is no indication the police initiated the

conversation between Mr. Silva and his brother" but that "[t]o the contrary, the police seemed uncertain about allowing the contact...and expressing concerns over Mr. Silva's safety." 2AA 307.

Most importantly, <u>Miranda</u> violations have their own built-in remedy - exclusion of the statement. The Supreme Court has held that "the exclusion of unwarned statements is a complete and sufficient remedy for any perceived <u>Miranda</u> violation." <u>U.S. v. Patane</u>, 542 U.S. 630, 642, 124 S. Ct. 2620, 2629 (2004) (internal alterations and quotations omitted) *citing* <u>Chavez v. Martinez</u>, 538 U.S. 760, 790, 123 S. Ct. 1994 (2003). Here, the district court imposed the <u>Miranda</u> remedy to exclude Silva's confession to detectives. That represented a complete remedy for the <u>Miranda</u> violations and there is no reason, and no supporting authority, to exclude Silva's subsequent voluntary, unsolicited statements to his brother.

B. <u>Any error in admitting Silva's statements to Bernard was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence supporting his conviction.</u>

If this Court disagrees and does find that Silva's statements were admitted in violation of Miranda, the Court should find that the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against him. *See* Boehm v. State, 113 Nev. 910, 916, 944 P.2d 269, 273 (1997) (applying harmless error analysis to Miranda violations).

Here, on the morning of November 2, 2017, prior to 5:00 a.m., witnesses saw a SUV parked the wrong way on Parkview Street near Mazzone Avenue, just off Neil Road. 3AA 576, 577, 580, 588. One witness saw a man wearing all black clothing, including a black hoodie, in the area near the SUV. 3AA 578, 589-90. Kimberly Vazquez, one of the witnesses who had seen the man and the SUV, heard gunshots, and then noticed that the SUV was gone. 3AA 591. Another witness, Juan Gonzalez, heard gunshots and then saw a gray Toyota SUV leave the area and briefly travelled behind it while on his way to work. 4AA 598-600.

In response to reports of gunshots, first responders arrived at the scene and discovered the victim, Luz Linarez-Castillo, had been shot six times to death inside her vehicle. 4AA 610, 612, 616-17, 623, 630-31, 633, 638.

Reno Police Department Sergeant John Silver found some fresh cigarette butts in the area where the suspicious male had been seen by witnesses. 4AA 652, 659-60. All the cigarette butts appeared to be Marlboro NXT butts. 4AA 660-61. The cigarette butts were collected and submitted for DNA testing. 4AA 662, 684. A DNA profile generated from the cigarette butts located at the crime scene were compared against a sample obtained from Bernard. 4AA 808-09. Those samples were found

not to match Bernard, but they were found to be a male familial match to Bernard, meaning one of Bernard's male relatives. 4AA 809.

While examining the contents of Ms. Linarez-Castillo's vehicle,

Detective Ben Rhodes discovered two credit cards in the name of Silva and
his brother, Bernard Silva Guzman, thus linking them to the investigation.

4AA 709-10.

Reno Police Department Detective Mike Barnes identified a transaction for two packs of Marlboro NXT cigarettes at a 7-11 store in Sparks from November 1, 2017, at 10:48 p.m., and emailed a photograph of the customer involved in that transaction to other detectives. 4AA 763-65.

Roman Arora, the owner of that 7-11 provided surveillance video of that transaction to detectives. 4AA 767-68. Detective Rhodes identified a silver Toyota Sequoia, seen on that surveillance video, to Sylvia and Arturo Guzman, the parents of Yiovannie Guzman. 4AA 732-33, 741. Silva was seen on that video wearing a 49ers hat inside the 7-11. 4AA 819. When he was arrested several weeks later, he was wearing a similar 49ers hat. *Id*, 6AA 1242-43. Silva was also seen wearing a black hooded sweatshirt on the surveillance tape from 7-11, like what witnesses described the suspicious man wearing at the scene that morning before the shooting, and similar to a black hoodie taken from him at the time of his arrest. 4AA 819-20, 5AA

873. Silva was seen exiting the passenger side of a silver SUV at the 7-11, which led detectives to believe that another person might possibly be involved. 4AA 821.

Detective Ernie Kazmar testified that he learned that Ms. Linarez-Castillo had been with Bernard for either 11 or 13 years, and that Silva was her brother-in-law. 4AA 801-02. Detective Kazmar also learned that Ms. Linarez-Castillo had a romantic relationship with Arturo Manzo and that he lived at 3515 Mazzone. 4AA 804. The morning of her murder, Ms. Linarez-Castillo had been staying at Mr. Manzo's home. *Id.* Detective Kazmar further testified that he learned that Silva was involved in an affair with Ms. Linarez-Castillo, and she was also involved in an affair with Mr. Manzo. 4AA 818.

Detectives obtained a sample of Silva's DNA on a water bottle during an interview at the Reno Police Department on November 8. 4AA 811, 5AA 856, 865, 6AA 1234, 1236. Detectives later submitted that water bottle for DNA testing. 5AA 865. DNA analysis matched the DNA profiles from the Marlboro NXT cigarette butts to the sample obtained from Silva's water bottle. 6AA 1202-05, 1207. A reference sample later identified Silva as the source of those DNA samples with an estimated frequency of 1 in 8.217 octillion individuals. 6AA 1208-09, 1211.

During that interview, Silva told detectives that he had not been to the area of Parkview and Mazzone for a number of years, when he had gone to that area to work on a school project. 5AA 864, 6AA 1235-36. In fact, Silva claimed "that he specifically avoided the area of Neil Road as well as other locations within Reno that he, quote, deemed a high crime area." 5AA 864-65.

Mr. Manzo testified that he had been Ms. Linarez-Castillo's boyfriend for approximately six months before she was killed. 5AA 875-76. Mr. Manzo was aware that Ms. Linarez-Castillo had been married to Bernard and had previously confronted him over an accusation of domestic battery. 5AA 882-85. During that conversation on October 20, 2017, Mr. Manzo confirmed to Bernard that he was "with Lucy." 5AA 885. On that same day, Mr. Manzo received a phone call from Silva, during which Silva asked if he was dating Ms. Linarez-Castillo. 5AA 886-88.

Louise Roberts testified that she was a manager of programming at DMV in 2017 and was tasked with checking who might have performed searches for various information on DMV computers. 5AA 904-05. In the course of that search, she learned that an employee named J. Macias had performed a computer search for Mr. Manzo's license plate on October 26, 2017. 5AA 909-911. Ms. Roberts testified that information would give

access to a variety of other information such as a current registered address. 5AA 912.

Detective Rhodes executed a search warrant at 1440 Sbragia Way on November 16 and recovered a dark hooded sweatshirt and Silva's DMV employee ID. 4AA 721, 724-25. Detective Rhodes also searched Silva's vehicle and found a Marlboro NXT cigarette butt in the trunk. 4AA 727, 729-30.

Detective Josh Watson examined Yiovannie Guzman's phone and discovered text messages between Silva and Mr. Guzman. 5AA 935-36, 1026. One of those texts asked Mr. Guzman where he was at 4:28 a.m. on November 1. *Id.* The text messages continued wherein Mr. Guzman told Silva that he had just woken up at 5:54 a.m. because his alarm had not woken him up and Silva responded that it was "too late." 5AA 937. Silva then wrote that Mr. Guzman should have said that alarms do not wake him up and he "would have had you stay with me until it's time." *Id.* Detective Watson later examined Silva's phone, associated with the same phone number listed in Mr. Guzman's phone, and was unable to find corresponding messages, indicating that they had been deleted. 5AA 947-950.

///

By far, the most damaging testimony came from Mr. Guzman himself. He testified that he is Silva's cousin and has known him his whole life. 5AA 997. Mr. Guzman noticed that Silva and Ms. Linarez-Castillo appeared to be "too friendly, more than brother-in-law and sister-in-law should be." 5AA 1001. On Halloween night, sometime after 9:00 p.m., Mr. Guzman drove a 2002 Toyota Sequoia to Paul's Market in Sparks. 5AA 1006-07. While exiting his vehicle, Mr. Guzman saw his cousin, Silva, pull in. 5AA 1008. Mr. Guzman and Silva's companions went into the store, and they were left outside alone with one another and talked. 5AA 1009. Silva asked Mr. Guzman about borrowing his SUV and said that he "had a mission to do and that he had to body somebody." 5AA 1009-10. Mr. Guzman understood "body somebody" to mean "[t]o kill somebody. 5AA 1010.

Mr. Guzman agreed to let Silva borrow his car, but Silva told him to call him later. 5AA 1011. Mr. Guzman called Silva later that night and met up with him at a friend's home in Sparks to let him borrow the car. 5AA 1012-13. While at that house, Silva told Mr. Guzman that he was going to kill Ms. Linarez-Castro and asked if Mr. Guzman would be his driver. 5AA 1014-15. Silva told Mr. Guzman that he was going to kill her because she was threatening to take her kids away from Bernard and that she had information that could put Bernard in prison for a long time. 5AA 1015.

Silva also told Mr. Guzman about Ms. Linarez-Castillo's relationship with Mr. Manzo. 5AA 1016. Mr. Guzman agreed to drive for Silva. *Id*.

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